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Introduction


ON A SWELTERING August evening, a group of British soldiers and sailors sat down to a meal in the State Dining Room of America’s White House. They hadn’t been invited. They had invaded the capital of the United States, had seized the President’s house and were now helping themselves to the meal that he and his first lady had prepared for their guests. To the British officers and men who’d been marching for days the food and drink were like a gift from the gods. Royal Navy Lieutenant James Scott wrote in his diary that the President’s Madeira wine tasted like ‘nectar’. It was 24 August 1814. Thirty years after the United States had won its independence, the British were back. 


The extraordinary story of how these intruders, at the head of a British force of 4,500 men, came to occupy and then burn the city of Washington has become the stuff of legend. President Obama greeted Britain’s Prime Minister, David Cameron, at the White House in March 2012 by reminding him that two centuries earlier his countrymen had ‘really lit the place up’. Cameron replied that he was a ‘little embarrassed’ by what his ancestors had got up to. Tony Blair, an earlier Prime Minister, was typically a bit more flip: ‘I know this is kind of late – but sorry!’ Even Bob Dylan wrote a special couplet referring to Britain’s burning of the White House for his song ‘Narrow Way’. 


The British invasion of Washington is not an episode in their history that Americans recall with much relish – any more than the French do the Battle of Waterloo. In Britain, very few people know it happened or even that there was a so-called War of 1812. It was actually one of the defining moments in the history of both countries. For America it was the only other time – before the terrorist attack of 11 September 2001 – that outsiders succeeded in striking at the core of American state power. But within three weeks the young republic was to transform utter humiliation into triumph. And Britain was to see one of the most daring and successful military enterprises in its history bring it face to face with the limits of its imperial power. These three weeks provide a revealing commentary on the personalities of the two nations, now inseparable friends, then bitter enemies. The story is greatly enriched by first-hand accounts from characters in all walks of life on both sides of the conflict. They are as compelling a group of eyewitnesses as any you’ll find in history. All – even the military – speak with a disarming immediacy and candour about the bloodshed and destruction and the strengths and weaknesses of those in command. 


Most of the British men who tell us how they came to be in the White House that night had fought their way through western Europe defeating the armies of the French Emperor Napoleon. Harry Smith, an ambitious young officer in the Rifles, had recently seen burning and destruction in plenty as he campaigned through Spain and southern France with the Duke of Wellington. His only regret in being posted to America was that he had to leave behind his devoted Spanish wife, who had accompanied him throughout the Peninsular campaign. He was now a senior aide to the army commander, Major General Robert Ross, another uninvited guest at the White House table. Ross wore on his neck the vicious and still unhealed scar of a wound he had suffered in a battle with Napoleon’s men in southern France. He too had had to leave a much loved wife behind. Months earlier she had crossed the Pyrenees to treat his wound. She was now languishing at their home in Northern Ireland, deeply unhappy without him. His letters to her reveal a kindly and deeply sensitive man, tormented by news of her loneliness and depression. He had been beset too by doubts about his campaign: he would not have led his men into Washington but for the persistent needling of another man eating the President’s dinner that night– the fiery Rear Admiral George Cockburn. Cockburn’s own words and the accounts of those who knew him testify to his sharp tongue and fearsome reputation. To the Americans he was a ‘brutal monster’ for the raids he had made on their coastal towns over the previous year. Cockburn had relished the hard-bitten life of a sailor from the moment he served as a frigate captain’s servant at the age of ten. His chief aide was now James Scott, a dashing young sailor with an unashamed weakness for flirting with ladies no matter what language they spoke. He writes with delightful indiscretion about the debates within the British high command which he often attended. All of these men dined at the President’s table that night and then set the White House on fire: it still bears the burn marks to this day. One prolific diarist who wasn’t actually at the meal but who describes the scenes there and throughout those dramatic weeks in more detail than anyone else was George Gleig, whose adventures read like those of Bernard Cornwell’s Richard Sharpe. 


The principal American characters and the stories they tell are no less compelling. James and Dolley Madison presented America with a striking partnership between a cerebral and often withdrawn President and his warm-hearted, gregarious and very practical wife. He won undying fame as the key draughtsman of the American republic’s constitution, but was a near disastrous failure as its commander in chief when the War of 1812 reached this dramatic climax. Dolley was widely acclaimed for her plucky conduct during those August days in 1814. The letters of James and Dolley Madison and their friends Margaret Bayard Smith and Anna Maria Thornton provide a candid picture of the President’s attempt to manage a desperate situation, and the crushing humiliation of having to abandon his own home. Madison was let down by the conduct of two seriously flawed characters: John Armstrong, the Secretary of War, and his military commander William Winder. Both may have had their merits but they both failed each other and their country. The cast of American players in the drama has its winners as well as its losers: the energetic Secretary of State, James Monroe, and Sam Smith, the resolute American commander at Baltimore, both helped Madison restore America’s faith in itself. There are a number of soldiers too like John Pendleton Kennedy who give us a taste of how ordinary Americans weathered the storm. Kennedy dashed so quickly into action that he found himself wearing his dancing pumps on the battlefield. And if there was one clear American hero, it was Joshua Barney, the mastermind behind the team of flotillamen who caused the British much mischief. He had been a swashbuckling privateer in the American and French navies and claimed he had once kissed Marie Antoinette. Barney was eventually to die of the wound he received fighting the British. 


The accounts of these central characters on either side are at the heart of what is the most striking episode in an otherwise almost forgotten war. It began in 1812 and ended in 1815 with no material gains for either Britain or America. In just one month in the summer of 1814 the fortunes of both sides rise and fall with spectacular impact. The sack of Washington is only an early highlight in a story that reaches its height at Baltimore three weeks later. What happened there did much to soothe America’s sense of national humiliation at the burning of Washington. 


The fierce struggle of August and September 1814 was one of the last bouts of fighting between two nations that later became the closest of allies. It defines the strengths and weaknesses of each: the British empire – overstretched and arrogant, but fielding a navy and army of experienced veterans who could sweep all before them; the young American republic, struggling with internal divisions but infused with a freshness of spirit and patriotic fervour. And underlying this often bloody conflict is the grudging respect that often marked dealings between the two sides. This was after all a battle between two supposedly civilised nations who spoke the same language, shared family ties and were neither of them bent on the other’s outright ruin. It is not able how, just occasionally, the essential humanity of the two countries took some of the edge off the death and destruction.










1


Eager souls panting for fame


17 August


THE AMERICAN WATCHMAN on the aptly named Point Lookout awoke to an astonishing sight. Thomas Swann stood gazing at up to fifty warships flying the British flag anchored in the wide expanse of water at the entrance to the Potomac River in Chesapeake Bay. He’d never seen anything like it: mighty warships like the eighty-gun Tonnant, captured from the French at the Battle of the Nile and one of the champions of the British fleet at Trafalgar in 1805, along with several other seventy-four-gun ships of the line, as well as some smaller, faster frigates and, scattered among them, clusters of schooners and sloops of war. There were troop transports, which Swann reckoned must be carrying thousands of fighting men, and bomb ships which could cause devastation ashore with their long-range mortars. He was looking at the largest British force to hit the Chesapeake since Britain had tried and failed to crush the American revolution thirty years earlier. The bay was of great strategic importance: it commanded the approaches to the cities of Washington, Annapolis and Baltimore. Of the three, Baltimore was the largest and most prosperous with a well-protected harbour. But Washington had the prestige of being the home of Congress and the President. 


It was dawn on 17 August 1814. Within hours the news would be in Washington some eighty miles away. War was about to come to the very heart of the United States. Swann, a lawyer and volunteer observer, sent an express letter to the War Secretary John Armstrong detailing the fifty-one ships he counted in the bay. One terrified American eyewitness in the coastal town of York wrote to his local newspaper that the appearance of this ‘formidable’ enemy fleet could only mean ‘our property destroyed, our dwellings in ashes, our wives and children homeless and defenceless’. 
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The previous evening the bay had echoed to the thunder of British cannon. It was a salute to the final squadron to arrive, carrying 2,800 troops from southern France. Robert Barrett, a midshipman on the frigate Hebrus, had all the enthusiasm of a young lad of fifteen just embarked on a life of adventure. ‘It was a glorious and imposing spectacle to behold these noble ships standing up the vast bay . . . manned too with eager souls, panting for fame and opportunity to sustain the laurels they had gained in many a bloody field of Spain and Portugal.’ 


Another inspired by the ‘glorious’ sight ‘of an English fleet standing up an enemy’s bay with all sails set’ was George Gleig. He was an eighteen-year-old subaltern with an amiable round face and curly hair, already a prolific and meticulous diarist. Until that spring he had been chronicling his adventures with the Duke of Wellington’s army in the Peninsular War against the French. But that war was over. France’s Emperor Napoleon had abdicated. And Gleig and his comrades had expected to go home. But pretty soon the rumour went around that the British veterans who’d fought their way through the Iberian Peninsula into southern France and others from the war in the Mediterranean would be off to America. With France defeated, now was the time to get the upper hand in another war that had become a futile drain on British resources – the conflict with the newly independent United States. The Americans were fighting the Royal Navy at sea and trying to seize parts of British Canada. Britain responded in the summer of 1814 with an enterprise designed to give the Americans what Britain’s Military Secretary, Colonel Torrens called a ‘good drubbing’. There was no plan to reimpose British rule. 


The American war was a tiresome sideshow for the British. They had been fighting a war of survival against Napoleon, whose domination of the European continent they saw as the paramount strategic threat. And so when America’s President James Madison declared war on Britain in June 1812, it seemed like a stab in the back. Madison was exasperated by what he saw as the intolerable excesses of the British empire. In applying a stranglehold on France, Britain had massively interfered with American ships trading with Europe. The Royal Navy also imperiously made a habit of impressing Americans into working on its warships – even if the men could demonstrate that they were American citizens. What was more, Americans driving west to settle in Ohio and beyond felt threatened by Britain’s support for the indigenous Indian tribes who stood in their way. And so, even though the United States had won its independence from Britain a generation earlier, it felt forced to declare war against the old mother country again. 


The war hadn’t gone well for either side. The Americans tried and failed to seize slices of Canada. Former President Thomas Jefferson (before he was succeeded in the White House by James Madison in 1809) had boasted that conquering Canada would be a ‘mere matter of marching’. The odds appeared to be massively in America’s favour. Upper Canada’s tiny population of less than 100,000 faced an American population of more than seven million. But it proved impossible for the American army to establish a permanent foothold across the frontier. And the British, although they possessed the most powerful navy in the world, suffered as much punishment as they inflicted in several naval encounters, and even had their Upper Canadian capital York (the modern Toronto) burned by an American marauding force in the spring of 1813. The parliament buildings there were reduced to ashes by soldiers who, the Americans claimed later, had run amok. 


This debilitating war remained inconclusive. Lord Liverpool’s Tory government in London was severely short of money after two decades of fighting the French. So he leapt at the opportunity of peace in Europe – with Napoleon’s exile to Elba in the spring of 1814 – to deal a decisive blow against America. ‘Now that the tyrant Buonaparte has been consigned to infamy,’ thundered the London Times, ‘there is no public feeling in this country stronger than that of indignation against the Americans . . .’ Parliament, press and government switched the nation’s attention from Europe to America in language that knew no bounds. The Americans were called ‘loathsome’ and ‘hateful’ for having turned on Britain when it was fighting a war with the French. America’s President Madison was a ‘serpent’. Resentment still burned strong in Britain at the humiliating defeat it had suffered in the American War of Independence. Now it was free to turn up the heat on its former American colonies. And the fleet that appeared in the Chesapeake in August 1814 was there to do just that. 


George Gleig was happy not to go straight home after Napoleon’s defeat. He was as keen as anyone, he wrote, ‘to gather a few more laurels even in America’. But over on the flagship, the Tonnant, Harry Smith, who’d seen rather more action than Gleig in the Peninsula, was much less happy. Two years earlier he’d rescued a beautiful Spanish girl of fourteen from British troops who’d gone berserk after their successful storming of the fortress town of Badajoz. Within minutes Smith proposed to her, and they married in the presence of Wellington, the Commander in Chief. Juana, Harry’s new wife, had followed him through many a scrape in the years of fighting that ensued. And he now found it ‘an awful trial’ to part with her. ‘I knew I must leave behind my young, fond and devoted wife, my heart was ready to burst.’ They spent their last few days together in a little skiff floating down the river from Bordeaux enjoying the ‘beauties of the scenery’, and he finally left her ‘insensible and in a faint’. Now Smith, who’d made his name as an energetic and forthright captain on Wellington’s staff, was attached to a new army commander, Major General Robert Ross. The Duke of Wellington himself showed no enthusiasm for the war in America. He had always believed that wars should have clearly defined and achievable goals: the American war had neither. But he admired Ross, who’d been one of his senior commanders in Spain and southern France, and the Duke was glad to see him presented with such a promising command. 


Ross was a Northern Irishman from Rostrevor in County Down, and he had done Wellington proud in the Peninsula. He had been awarded a medal for his leadership at the Battle of Vitoria the previous summer. He was notably courageous in battle, occasionally reckless: he had a habit of leading from the front and lost a number of horses killed under him. His men were devoted to him: he would occasionally entertain them by playing his violin. An American prisoner who was to meet him later said of Ross that ‘he was the perfect model of the Irish gentleman of easy and beautiful manners, humane and brave . . . and his prisoners had no reason to regret falling into his hands’. 


It was at the Battle of Orthez in February 1814 that Ross received the near fatal neck wound that brought his wife, Elizabeth – he called her ‘Ly’ – riding on horseback through the snow to look after him. In a letter to her brother, Ned, he made light of his wound: ‘You will be happy to hear that the hit I got in the chops is likely to prove of mere temporary inconvenience.’ But Ross was now worried about the deep depression that had seized Elizabeth when he broke the news that far from coming home he was off to another war in America. ‘The prospect of your unhappiness’, he wrote to his wife in mid-July, ‘dismays me considerably. The care which our young ones require ought to make you consider the care of yourself of the most infinite consequence. Do, my Ly, somehow dispel all those gloomy ideas . . .’ Concern for Elizabeth was to hang like a dark shadow over Ross throughout the next gruelling weeks. He wrote to reassure her that he believed the contest with America would be over by the end of the year ‘so as to restore my Ly to me. What a joyful meeting after the most melancholy separation we have ever had.’ His letter went on to give a hint that he hoped he would come back with a generous share of any prize money. As the army commander in the operation, he told Elizabeth, ‘any advantage to be derived from it will I trust fall to my lot’. Like his naval colleagues Ross expected the campaign to add handsomely to his earnings. 


Ross was fortunate in two key aides, both still showing the scars of their own wounds in the Peninsula: Harry Smith was one, George de Lacy Evans the other, a lieutenant, one rank junior to Smith. Both of them were burning with ambition and enthusiasm for the mission. Evans was a tearaway young cavalry officer who was given a medal for leading his dragoons in repeated charges at the Battle of Vitoria in 1813. Ross wrote to his wife that he was ‘much pleased’ with his staff officers. ‘In addition to Smith, the Brigade Major, who improves much upon acquaintance, I have a Mr Evans of the Quarter Master General’s department who is an extremely intelligent active fellow and’ [as if that wasn’t commendation enough] ‘an Irishman.’ Both competed energetically to influence Ross, though Smith was less impressed with his chief than was Evans, and Ross may have detected this. Certainly the general went out of his way as the campaign progressed to try to promote George Evans to the same level as Harry Smith. It was enough to inject a touch of jealousy into Smith’s spirit of comradely rivalry with Evans. 


Within minutes of arriving in Chesapeake Bay Ross met the admiral who was to be the driving force of the British blitzkrieg of the next few weeks, Rear Admiral George Cockburn. Cockburn had impressed Nelson with his fierce self-confidence and courage at the Battle of Cape St Vincent off Portugal in 1797 and at several engagements in the Mediterranean. Here in America he had been causing terror and destruction in the Chesapeake for the last eighteen months. People in coastal towns lived in fear of their homes being burned and their tobacco crop and other valuables being seized and sold for profit by Cockburn’s marauding troops. He was often seen accompanying his men ashore – he relished being involved in the action – in his admiral’s two-cornered hat and familiar jet-black uniform jacket with gold epaulettes. By the end of 1813, he was being attacked in the American press for behaviour it described as ‘brutal’ and ‘savage’. The Boston Gazette called him ‘the notorious barbarian Admiral Cockburn . . . there breathes not in any quarter of the globe a more savage monster than this same British admiral. He is a disgrace to England and to human nature.’ Another newspaper reported the offer of ‘a reward of one thousand dollars for the head of the notorious incendiary and infamous scoundrel, and violator of all laws, the British Admiral Cockburn, or five hundred dollars for each of his ears on delivery’. Cockburn’s aide-de-camp, James Scott, who witnessed much of the fighting, welcomed the raging reaction of the American press. ‘It exposed their weakness in the eyes of the world,’ he wrote in his diary. ‘The abuse and vituperation . . . out Heroded Herod; there was no crime no outrage however flagitious that was not placed to his account.’ Scott reports that the admiral’s raids did indeed spread fire and destruction and earned piles of prize money, and that Cockburn often put himself in danger by plunging into the middle of the action. To Scott the admiral had always been a hero – from the moment he joined Cockburn’s frigate HMS Phaeton way back in his early teens. And he also claims that Cockburn was renowned for his gentlemanly gallantry. When on one raid his men burst in upon a party of young women and sent them scuttling in panic into a corner of the room, Cockburn arrived and assured them they would come to no harm. ‘The courtly demeanour of the Admiral and promises of protection restored the roses to their smiling countenances and they learned that the enemy and the gentleman may be combined without disparagement to either.’ 


Cockburn was not in fact as unscrupulous as he liked his enemy to believe. He applied strict rules of engagement. Towns that surrendered to his raids he would spare; towns that resisted he would burn. Livestock and other food, he insisted, should be paid for, never looted, again always providing there was no opposition. As even one early twentieth-century American historian observed: ‘The harassing of the shores, however, was carried out in a mild and gentlemanly fashion – private property being respected, or if it were levied upon, payment was made unless the owners offered resistance.’ In practice the presence of American militia in many towns made a clash inevitable. And once battle was joined Cockburn abandoned restraint: burning, plunder, confiscation, all were fair game. And the outcome was often so savage that one British officer, Colonel Charles Napier, who served with Cockburn, complained: ‘Strong is my dislike to what is perhaps a necessary part of our job, viz, plundering and ruining the peasantry . . . it is hateful to see the poor yankees robbed and to be the robber.’ Napier made no secret of his contempt for what he saw as Cockburn’s ‘impetuous’ way of conducting raids. Napier was one of Wellington’s grizzled Peninsular veterans who’d delighted in killing Frenchmen at Bussaco and Badajoz, but he had his doubts about fighting fellow Anglo-Saxons: ‘It is quite shocking to have men who speak our own language brought in wounded; one feels as if they were English peasants and that we are killing our own people.’ To one British seaman, Frederick Chamier, the type of warfare in which he was engaged with George Cockburn was ‘a blot on our escutcheons . . . We most valiantly set fire to unprotected property and notwithstanding the imploring looks of the old women, we, like a parcel of savages, danced round the wreck.’ 


But to most of his men Admiral George Cockburn was a hero. A young British midshipman watched Cockburn’s men rampaging through one town on the Virginia shore, capturing a pile of tobacco and several American schooners. ‘It’s almost impossible to depict my boyish feelings and transport when at the close of this spirit-stirring affair I gazed for the first time in my life on the features of that undaunted seaman, Rear Admiral George Cockburn, with his sunburnt visage and his rusty gold laced hat – an officer who . . . on every occasion shared the same toil, danger and privation of the foremost man under his command.’ James Scott, Cockburn’s ADC, recalls one day when the temperature reached 90 degrees, and some of Cockburn’s men threw themselves on the ground saying they couldn’t move a step further. Cockburn jumped off his horse and ‘addressing the brave fellows who lay stretched on the ground in an encouraging tone, he said, “What! Englishmen tired with the morning’s walk like this; here, give me your musket; here, yours my man; your Admiral will carry them for you.” ’ Scott, already scarcely able to stand in the heat, found himself carrying two of the men’s muskets. ‘But it had the desired effect of rousing the men afresh, and, headed by their chief, we reached the boats without one man missing.’ 


Ross and Cockburn were under command of a vice admiral who was one rank senior to each of them. He was Sir Alexander Cochrane, whose flag flew on HMS Tonnant, which had retained her French name since she had been seized by the British at the Battle of the Nile. Cochrane had begun this enterprise no less aggressively than the plain-spoken George Cockburn. He had a long-term grudge against the USA. His brother had been killed at Yorktown, the last major battle in the War of Independence with America thirty-three years earlier. Cochrane was somewhat of an expert in the field of amphibious warfare: he had landed an army in Egypt in 1801, and supervised an assault on the island of Martinique in 1809. 


Cochrane had received a letter from Britain’s commander in Canada, General George Prevost, telling him of the ‘outrages’ the Americans were committing in their raids on Canada, and Cochrane promptly responded by ordering his subordinates such as Cockburn to carry ‘retributory justice into the country of our enemy . . . to destroy and lay waste such towns and districts upon the coast as you may find assailable’. Cockburn of course had been doing that ruthlessly to towns that picked a fight with him for the past year and a half, and was delighted to receive a letter in July asking for his advice about a plan of action for the new task force. Cochrane’s central strategic objective was to cause the Americans so much punishment on the east coast that they would be forced to reduce their pressure on Canada. He had been deliberating for some time about where to attack once Ross’s army arrived from Europe. Annapolis, Baltimore and Washington were all possible targets, perhaps Philadelphia up the Delaware River. ‘I will thank you for your opinion,’ Cochrane wrote to Cockburn. He didn’t have to wait long for his answer. Cockburn made it clear that he had no doubt what the approaching task force should do. It should strike where it would do most damage to the upstart republic’s pride and prestige. The target should be the city that was now the capital of the United States – Washington. 


He had already confidently reported that he had found America to be ‘in general in a horrible state . . . it only requires a little firm and steady conduct to have it completely at our mercy’. And then in mid-July he despatched a fast schooner with a letter he marked ‘secret’ to Cochrane, who was still building up his force in Bermuda. Cockburn said he now believed it was the perfect opportunity for a thrust at the very heart of the enemy’s power – their seat of government in Washington. And he added: ‘I feel no hesitation in stating to you that I consider the town of Benedict in the Patuxent, to offer advantages for this purpose beyond any other spot within the United States . . .’ The town, he said was forty-four or forty-five miles from Washington by a good road. And, he went on, within forty-eight hours of landing the troops, ‘the City of Washington might be possessed without difficulty or opposition of any kind’. Cockburn added that Benedict offered a sheltered spot on the Patuxent River at which to unload the troops. In the rich country around it they would find plenty of supplies for the army and horses to drag their heavy guns. What was more, added Cockburn, once the Americans had suffered the blow of losing their capital, the other cities like Annapolis and Baltimore would soon fall as well. 


Cochrane and Ross were not so sure. Nor was another admiral, who joined them from Britain, Edward Codrington. ‘We are now on our way to the Chesapeake,’ Codrington wrote to his wife. ‘(Mind you don’t tell the Yankees!)’ He was the only one of the admirals in America who had fought at Trafalgar nine years earlier. As captain of the Orion, Codrington had received the surrender of the French Intrépide at the cost of only one of his own men against 200 French dead. He was now to command the fleet under Cochrane. The Admiralty had intended to give Cochrane a force of 20,000 men. It had now been reduced to just 4,500. This must have been a shock to the Commander in Chief, who from now on allowed an element of caution to dilute his passionate loathing of the Americans. And in this he found an ally in Codrington. Before he arrived in the Chesapeake Codrington had expressed caution about going all out for a major target like Washington: ‘I feel extremely anxious that we should succeed in the first attack we make; and I should prefer even a minor object with something like certainty, to a point of more consequence which might be doubtful.’ Both men knew that if the Americans could get their act together they would outnumber the British several times over. But Ross’s men were battle-scarred veterans who had thrown the French out of Spain, and they would face untried and poorly trained American militia. Cochrane was inclined at least to give Cockburn’s plan a chance. 


There were actually four British admirals on the fleet assembled in the Chesapeake on 17 August. They included Rear Admiral Pulteney Malcolm, who had led the convoy that brought Ross’s troops across from France. Three of the admirals, confusingly, had names that start with a C. Alexander Cochrane, the vice admiral and Commander in Chief, was to supervise the campaign aboard his flagship, the Tonnant; Edward Codrington, a rank below him, was to be the day-to-day manager of the fleet, often exerting a restraining influence on his chief; the third was the pugnacious George Cockburn, who now relished the prospect of accompanying General Ross on his land operations. 


By the time the American government in Washington did know that the British had arrived in force, Cockburn, in two days of meetings on the Tonnant, swept away any doubts that remained in the minds of Ross and Cochrane. Washington it would be. They would sail as far as they could up the Patuxent River on Thursday 18 August, land the army at Benedict and march on the American capital. Two other diversionary moves would be made. One force would sail up the Potomac, another into the northern reaches of Chesapeake Bay. Anything to confuse the enemy, divide their forces and keep them guessing about the real target. Would the British attack the city of Baltimore, Annapolis – or Washington?
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The great little Madison


17 August


AMERICA’S CAPITAL WAS still little more than an oversized village with only 8,000 inhabitants. ‘To a Bostonian, or a Philadelphian,’ wrote one of Madison’s cabinet ministers, ‘Washington appears like what it really is, a meagre village; a place with a few bad houses and extensive swamps, hanging upon the skirts . . . of a thinly-peopled, weak and barren country.’ 


But it was a village with monumental pretensions. It had been chosen by America’s first President, George Washington, to be the capital of the new nation. The broad avenues and imposing buildings of state were already partly in place. The two wings of the great stone Capitol – the Senate on the north side and the House of Representatives on the south side – were complete, lavishly adorned with vaults and columns in the classical style and topped with domes. Next to them stood the Library of Congress with more than 3,000 leather-bound volumes in a chamber eighty feet long. Way off to the west along the still largely bare but broad Pennsylvania Avenue stood another group of palatial buildings: the executive offices, the Treasury Building and, in the centre, in solitary grandeur with a generous space around it, the White House, usually referred to at that time as the President’s House.1 An ornate whitewashed Georgian mansion, it looked very much as it does today – but without the north and south porticos. It is a striking fact that what is arguably the world’s most iconic building, the seat of today’s most powerful leader, has changed little in size and shape from the time it was built.


America’s second President, John Adams, moved into the mansion briefly on its completion in 1800, and was succeeded by Thomas Jefferson in 1801. Jefferson was one of America’s most esteemed Presidents but he was unmarried and had no taste for grand social occasions. It was his successor, his close friend and Secretary of State James Madison, and his wife Dolley, who brought the place alive. It was a curious paradox because Madison was anything but a flamboyant personality. He had a slight, almost shrivelled frame no more than five foot four inches tall. He dressed usually in black, looked rather severe and had a thin and rather diffident voice. ‘As to Jemmy Madison,’ wrote the waggish American author Washington Irving, ‘ah poor Jemmy! He is but a withered little apple-john.’ Another said he was like ‘a schoolmaster dressed up for a funeral’. Madison was a studious man. He was unostentatious and unassuming when in company. But he had a charming smile, and eyes that were penetrating and expressive. His conversation sparkled with wit and anecdote and he had a fluent command of language, which had people listening to him in fascination. He was recognised as the intellectual force behind the US constitution: he had played a central role in designing the new republic. 


His wife Dolley could hardly have been more different. She was a buxom, warm-hearted woman with twinkling eyes – eyes that one observer said ‘wrought havoc with the hearts of the Quaker lads’. She was a natural hostess. She radiated an open bonhomie and disarming friendliness that made her White House the centre of Washington society from the moment James Madison became President in 1809. Dolley was born a Quaker, but by her mid-twenties she had left her modest upbringing behind her and was a vivacious and highly eligible widow in Philadelphia. Her first husband had died of yellow fever when she was twenty-five, leaving her with a small son, John Payne Todd. Young men would stop in the street to admire the ‘Widow Todd’. ‘Really, Dolley,’ said her friend Elizabeth Collins, ‘thou must hide thy face, there are so many staring at thee.’ Only a few months after her first husband had died, Dolley wrote excitedly to another friend that she was about to be introduced to ‘the great little Madison’. She wore a mulberry-coloured dress for the occasion with an ‘an exquisitely dainty little cap from which an occasional uncropped curl would escape’. James Madison, the intense, unmagnetic but already celebrated political genius, was immediately captivated. He fell for her – passionately. He told Dolley’s cousin Catherine Coles that he thought so much of Dolley in the daytime that he ‘lost his tongue’, and ‘at night he dreams of you’. 


They were married in September 1794, and so began one of the most unlikely but successful Presidential partnerships in American history – the thoughtful, preoccupied husband and the outgoing, vivacious wife. ‘Her smile, her conversation, and her manners are so engaging’, remarked one congressman, ‘that it is no wonder that such a young widow with her fine blue eyes . . . should indeed be a queen of hearts.’ George Washington met her at a Washington party in 1795 and remarked afterwards, ‘Mrs Madison was the sprightliest partner I’ve ever had.’ ‘She was humble-minded, tolerant and sincere,’ wrote her grand-niece Lucy Cutts, ‘but with a desire to please and willingness to be pleased which made her popular, and always a great friend and support to her husband.’ She called him her ‘darling little husband’; she combed his hair and wrote letters to him when he was ill. After James had won the Presidential election in 1808, his defeated opponent, Charles Pinkney, remarked, ‘I was beaten by Mr and Mrs Madison . . . I might have had a better chance had I faced Mr Madison alone.’ 


When James became President in 1809, Dolley redecorated Jefferson’s dowdy White House with sumptuous furnishings: Jefferson’s study was reborn as the State Dining Room with a large portrait of George Washington by Gilbert Stuart as its centrepiece. Dolley Madison’s drawing room adjoined the State Dining Room: it was elegantly furnished with pieces rather more delicate than the giant sideboard next door. The main, much larger drawing room stood in the centre of the south front with a door opening on to the terrace. Dolley embellished it with elegant mahogany furniture and rich red velvet curtains, which cost her a crippling $4 a yard. They were matched by red velvet cushions on the newly designed Grecian-style chairs; each chair bore a gilded and varnished US coat of arms. 


Each Wednesday the Madisons held an open house which became famous for its informality and the easy way in which Dolley drew together people of all political persuasions. While the President would retire to a corner to talk politics, his wife would be chatting to everyone, an unmistakable focus of fun and fashion. She was blessed with a rich memory. One guest observed that she always found time to speak to everyone and never forgot a name. At one drawing-room party she wore a pale buff-coloured velvet dress with a very long train, a Parisian turban of the same buff-coloured velvet and white satin, with two Bird of Paradise plumes, and a pearl necklace, earrings and bracelets. Her friend Margaret Bayard Smith wrote that ‘she looked like a queen’. Washington Irving described her as a ‘fine, portly, buxom dame, who has a smile and pleasant word for everybody’. Dolley had a passion for ice cream, which was generously served at her parties, and she was often seen to take a pinch of snuff from a little silver box she carried around. One of her guests observed that she was ‘not in the least a prude, as she once told an old bachelor and held up her mouth for him to kiss’. By 1814 Dolley Madison’s ‘drawing rooms’ had become an established part of fashionable life in Washington. 


One of the ironies of the time was that the White House was largely staffed by slaves. Even the country estate owned by one of the prime architects of America’s liberal constitution, the comfortable Madison family mansion at Montpelier in Virginia, housed 120 slaves. Like two other early Presidents with tobacco plantations in Virginia, Washington and Jefferson, Madison depended on slave labour. However uneasy the deeply principled James Madison might have been about slavery, he felt he had no choice. He and his wife treated their slaves with obvious humanity, but they never freed them. Madison’s own personal servant, Paul Jennings, was devoted to his master. He later wrote that he never saw Madison lose his temper and ‘never knew him to strike a slave; neither would he allow an overseer to do it’. If a slave was reported as stealing, rather than punish the man Madison would have a private talk with him. 


Each year as the busy Washington social season drew to a close in the summer, the Madisons would spend some time at their country house Montpelier 100 miles to the south-west. Their elegant Georgian mansion, which still commands a tranquil view of the Blue Ridge Mountains, offered a welcome retreat from the heat and bustle of Washington – particularly in wartime. But in 1814, after a break there in May, they spent the summer in the White House. Too many alarm bells were ringing in the capital. 


Well before the British fleet arrived in the Chesapeake, warning of London’s newly aggressive attitude had reached Washington. A senior American envoy exploring peace prospects in London wrote to a colleague in Washington that the end of the war in Europe and the defeat of Napoleon had transformed the situation. ‘A well-organized and large army is at once liberated from any European employment, and ready, together with a superabundant naval force, to act immediately against us. How ill prepared we are to meet it in a proper manner no one knows better than yourself.’ We hear that there are voices in Britain which ‘revel in the idea of burning the cities and towns, the mills and manufactories of that country [the United States]; at the very least, they talk of forcing Mr Madison from his seat and new modeling the government’. 


James Madison knew very well how ill prepared America was for a determined attack from Britain. In the first two years of the war his forces had at least managed to hold their own against the might of the British empire. Fighting on land had been indecisive, and at sea in a number of encounters American warships had done notably well. But things were already changing. The British were reinforcing their army in Canada, and the havoc Cockburn’s squadron was causing much nearer home was becoming intolerable. Many Washingtonians blithely dismissed the idea that the British would strike as far inland as the new capital. But the Madisons had watched Cockburn’s raids with deepening anxiety. As early as the spring of 1813 Dolley wrote to her cousin about the ‘fears and alarms that circulate around me’. 


She said people were expressing ‘reproach’ that her husband’s government was not doing enough to prepare. Quite the contrary, she said, ‘considerable efforts’ were being made for defence and she added that, although she was a Quaker, ‘I have always been an advocate for fighting when assailed . . .’ As for Cockburn, rumours were flying around that he was threatening to burn the White House over her head and carry her off to London to parade her in the streets. Dolley said she wasn’t one to ‘tremble’ at any threat Cockburn might make. By the summer of 1814 she was more concerned about threats to her husband, the President, than to herself. ‘I am not in the least alarmed at these things but entirely disgusted and determined to stay with him.’ 


James Madison’s reaction to Cockburn’s depredations was to seek the help of someone who was already an American naval hero, Joshua Barney. He would now play a spectacular role in the events of summer 1814. Born in a coastal village in Maryland in 1759, Barney angered his father by announcing at the age of ten that he’d had enough of school and wanted to go to sea. His father managed to resist for only two years, and at the age of twelve Barney was a sailor on his brother-in-law’s brig. By the time he was fifteen he had established such a command over his fellow crewmen that he became captain when his brother-in-law died on the voyage. In the American War of Independence Barney led a daredevil life of adventure as an American privateer. He seized a number of British ships, and when captured himself and locked up in a British gaol in Plymouth he escaped dressed as a British officer. In 1782 he was sent to Paris to deliver papers to the US mission there. We are told by Barney’s biographer, his daughter-in-law Mary, that Queen Marie Antoinette was so impressed by the young naval officer that instead of offering him her hand to kiss she offered her cheek. Once Britain and America were at peace Barney found himself in Napoleon’s navy and still capturing British ships. But with the start of the War of 1812 he was back in America skippering a privateer schooner, the Rossie, which seized no fewer than eighteen British ships in four months. With a record like that it was hardly surprising that, when Barney suggested building a special flotilla of shallow-draught barges to fight Cockburn’s marauding British fleet in Chesapeake Bay, President Madison agreed. His Naval Secretary, William Jones, wrote to Barney: ‘Your force is our principal shield and all eyes will be upon you.’ ‘I am anxious to be at them,’ Barney replied. 


The idea was that Barney’s barges, which were built over the winter of 1813–14, would be able to harass and perhaps disable Cockburn’s warships in the shallow waters in and around Chesapeake Bay. Barney’s and Cockburn’s ships clashed twice in the River Patuxent on the west side of the bay in June 1814. The battles were a disappointment for both sides. Barney’s men fought bravely but they managed to do little damage to the bigger British warships. And each time the British gave chase, Barney’s flat-bottomed barges retreated into shallow water. By the end of June Barney’s flotilla was tucked away so far up the river that the British were unable to get near it. It was secure enough but impotent. Madison had no effective floating naval force to counter the enemy armada that might sail into view any day. 


As warnings of a substantially increased British threat reached him that summer, Madison’s most important task was to make sure that the country’s defences were in order and that the right people were in command. And this is where Madison got it spectacularly wrong. There were three key people in positions of power under the President. The most controversial of the three was the fifty-five-year-old John Armstrong, whom Madison had appointed Secretary of War eighteen months earlier. He was intellectually able but an arrogant man, who, as Tacitus famously said of the flawed Roman Emperor Galba, appeared to everyone to be capable of ruling until he tried it.2 Both Jefferson and Madison gave Armstrong jobs that he notably failed in. His main weakness was his abrasive, intolerant and occasionally indolent personality. He began his life opposed to the old Jeffersonian Republican party. The principled view of Republicans like Jefferson and Madison was that a standing army could threaten the democratic will of the people. They were determined to resist pressures for the powerful central government which their Federalist opponents demanded. The Republican party was strong in the centre and south of the country, the Federalists in the north-east. Armstrong started as a Federalist from Pennsylvania and believed in a strong central state with a regular army. His views changed over the years and by the time he was forty he described himself as a Democratic Republican. Jefferson appointed him Minister to France in 1804 but his high-handedness soured relations between the two countries. Things got so bad that Napoleon complained that the American government was ‘not represented here; that its minister does not know French; is a morose man with whom one cannot treat’.When war broke out with Britain, Armstrong became a brigadier general and, because Madison wanted support from the northern states, he appointed him Secretary of War in 1813. Armstrong won approval for speeding up the promotion of some promising young officers, but soon lost it again when he massively overstepped his powers by taking command of the army fighting British Canada on the Great Lakes. It didn’t help: the campaign was a failure. In 1814 he again interfered in the northern campaign which was as inconclusive as it had been the year before. Madison had every reason to dismiss Armstrong, but he didn’t. He did however issue an order on 13 August 1814 reducing Armstrong’s powers in a number of areas, which only served further to worsen the fragile relationship between the President and his War Secretary. 


All this led to increasing tension between Madison and the second key figure in his administration – James Monroe, his Secretary of State. Monroe, a highly ambitious and very competent man, had long loathed Armstrong. Monroe was another Virginian, like Madison and Jefferson. Unlike Madison he had distinguished himself as a soldier in the Revolutionary War. He had made his mark too as a diplomat: he had been America’s Minister in London and Paris. Aged fifty-six in 1814, he was tall, with a healthy physique and broad shoulders. He tied his hair at the back with a black ribbon. His gaze was strikingly clear and direct. Jefferson thought him so honest that ‘if you turned his soul inside out there would not be a spot on it’. Whether Monroe was jealous of Armstrong or just downright disapproved of him, he did everything in his power to persuade Madison to dismiss him. When Armstrong took over command in the north, Monroe wrote to the President arguing that it was dangerous for a government minister to perform the duties of a lieutenant general. The constitution, he pointed out, demanded a separation of powers. By December 1813 Monroe was going even further – telling Madison that Armstrong was corrupt, promising officers promotion in order to win their support. ‘It is painful for me to make this communication to you nor should I do it if I did not most conscientiously believe that this man if continued in office will ruin not you and the administration only but the whole republican party and cause.’ If this dysfunctional relationship between two key members of his cabinet was not bad enough, Madison made one further disastrous mistake. In the belief that the American capital was at risk from any British attack on the mainland, he appointed Brigadier General William Winder the commander of a new military district which comprised the two vital cities of Washington and Baltimore. Winder was the nephew of Levin Winder, the Federalist Governor of Maryland, the state that surrounded Washington DC. Madison no doubt believed that Maryland’s support would be critical if Washington were threatened by a British invasion and so he may have believed that the elevation of the Governor’s nephew might help secure the capital. William Winder, a somewhat insecure thirty-nine-year-old, had only limited military experience. But the omens were hardly promising. He had succeeded in getting himself captured in a clash with the British a year earlier. Madison was promoting an undistinguished soldier to buy a political favour. 


The President appointed Winder without consulting his Secretary of War, John Armstrong. He was already beginning to doubt Armstrong’s competence for the job, although he still stopped short of taking Monroe’s advice and dismissing him. Armstrong was naturally upset. He also believed, rightly, that Winder was completely unsuitable for the job. He resented the fact that Madison had ignored the candidate he’d suggested. The scene was set for an administrative catastrophe. The Secretary of State and Secretary of War despised each other, and both of them believed they had more military competence than the man their President had appointed Commander in Chief. 


It was against this unpromising background that James Madison called a meeting of his top advisers at the White House on 1 July. The curious paradox was that of the four men with responsibility for the defence of the capital it was the man with the least military experience, Madison himself, who was the most concerned. He had told a colleague in June that what might prompt the British to make Washington a target was its weakness and the ‘éclat that would attend a successful inroad upon the capital, beyond the intrinsic magnitude of the achievement’. The President had written to Armstrong as early as 20 May 1814 that of all the places likely to be targets for British attack ‘the seat of government cannot fail to be a favourite one’. Armstrong didn’t believe Washington was in any danger. He had done little or nothing as Secretary of War to provide for coastal defences or any plan to obstruct an enemy advance on the capital. Monroe didn’t yet seem too worried. As for William Winder, it was only after he got his feet under his desk that he suddenly woke up to the enormity of the task before him if an enemy were to advance on the capital. 


The problem was that the United States had no ready force to confront such an emergency. The regular army – in line with the governing Republican party’s long-held suspicion of a standing army 


– was small and mainly occupied in the north on the Canadian border. There were in theory over 90,000 men in the country’s militia who could be summoned. They were drafted able-bodied men, who mustered for training only once or twice a year. There were volunteer companies as well – young lads eager for action, dressed in a wide variety of exotic uniforms, as rich in enthusiasm as they were poor in professional military skills. But they were not easily assembled, particularly if the call was from a different state. Winder’s problem was that the militia were the property of the states, not of the central federal government. The most available of the militia, Maryland’s, up to 6,000 strong, was already being deployed in defence of Maryland’s main city Baltimore by Governor Winder. He understood his nephew’s predicament, but the state of Maryland was his main concern. The unfortunate William Winder had even less success with Pennsylvania, whose 5,000 militiamen turned out to be unavailable because the state’s militia law had expired. An assistant to Pennsylvania’s Governor wrote apologetically to Winder that the ‘deranged state of our militia system prevented a more prompt compliance’. Winder spent the next few weeks desperately working on Virginia’s Governor for a contribution of 2,000 men and continuing to press Maryland’s. Armstrong suspected that the Virginians were more concerned to guard against possible slave risings on their plantations than against any attack on the nation’s cities. 


But it was worse than that. When Winder looked to Armstrong, his political boss, for help, he got none. On 9 July he wrote a plaintive letter to Armstrong saying that as things were going he was being promised only a very small force to defend his territory if the British appeared. ‘Should Washington, Baltimore or Annapolis be their object, what possible chance will there be of collecting a force, after the arrival of the enemy, to interpose between them and either of these places?’ And he went on: ‘If the enemy’s force should be strong, which, if it come, it will be, sufficient numbers of militia could not be warned and run together even as a disorderly crowd, without arms, ammunition, or organization, before the enemy would already have given his blow.’ Winder then went on to appeal to Armstrong to call out 4,000 militia without delay. He got no immediate reply. And throughout the next six weeks, his appeals to Armstrong fell on deaf ears. Since the Secretary of War did not believe there was a threat to Washington, he was going to do as little as he could to provide men or equipment to Winder, whom he anyway resented and despised. Armstrong said he believed the best way to instill fighting spirit in the militia was to field them only when the enemy actually appeared in view. Winder complained that the Secretary of War was for using the militia only ‘on the spur of the moment’. 
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